IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

KIM BLANDINO,

Appellant,

vs.

Electronically Filed Mar 26 2023 05:37 PM Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

CASE NO: 84433

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Appellee.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

JOSEPH Z. GERSTEN, ESQ The Gersten Law Firm PLLC Nevada Bar No. 13876 9680 W Tropicana Avenue # 146 Las Vegas, NV 89147 702-857-8777 STEVEN B. WOLFSON, ESQ. District Attorney Clark County 200 Lewis Street, 3rd Floor Las Vegas, NV 89101

AARON FORD, ESQ. Nevada Attorney General 100 North Carson Street Carson City, Nevada 89701 775-684-1265

Counsel for Appellant

Counsel for Appellee

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

II. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Honorable Court has jurisdiction under Nev. Const. art. 6, § 4(1), and NRS 1.030. Appellant was found guilty by jury on March 9, 2022. AA0693. On March 21, 2022, Appellant filed his Notice of Appeal. AA0893.

III. ROUTING STATEMENT

Pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(3), this case is presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals because it entails a postconviction appeal that involves a challenge to a judgment of conviction or sentence for offenses that are not category A felonies.

IV. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

a. TH	\mathbf{E}	DIS	TRIC	C T	COU	RT	ERF	RED	WH	EN	IT	DEN	NIED
AP	PI	ELL	ANT	TH	E AB	ILI	ГҮ Т	O RE	EPRI	ESEI	NT I	HIMS	SELF
•••••			•••••		•••••			•••••			•••••		••
b. TH	\mathbf{E}	DIS	TRIC	CT	COU	RT	ERF	RED	WH	EN	IT	DEN	NED
AP	PI	ELL		'S J	URY	INS	STRU	JCTI	ON (ON I	MIS	ГАКІ	E OF
FA	СТ		•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••		••
c. TH	\mathbf{E}	DIS	TRIC	CT	COU	RT	ERF	RED	WH	EN	IT	DEN	NED
AP	PF	ELLA	NT'S	M	OTIO	NS '	το ι	DISQ	UAL	IFY	LE	AVIT	T , J.
FR	O	И НЕ	ARI	NG	HIS I	ИАТ	TER	••••••		••••••	••••••		••

///

///

///

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 12, 2019, Defendant was indicted on felony and gross misdemeanor charges. AA0295. Initial arraignment in Department XII was held on July 23, 2019. After various hearings, on August 29, 2019, Appellant was granted leave to represent himself, with appointed standby counsel. Subsequently, on September 17, 2019, Appellant was appointed Attorney Batemen as his stand-by counsel. The case was assigned to Judge Michelle Leavitt. Judge Leavitt referred Defendant for competency evaluation on September 17, 2019. <u>Id.</u>

On December 13, 2019, Defendant filed a Motion to Disqualify Judge Leavitt, Judge Linda Bell, and all judges of the Eighth Judicial District Court. <u>Id.</u> Judges Leavitt and Bell filed affidavits denying any bias or prejudice towards any party in this case. <u>Id.</u> The Motion was denied on January 23, 2020. <u>Id.</u> Defendant was found competent to proceed with adjudication on April 9, 2020. <u>Id.</u>

On May 7, 2020, Defendant filed another Motion to Disqualify Judges Leavitt, Bell, Silva, Marquis, Hardy, Villani, and all judges of the Eighth Judicial District Court. <u>Id.</u> No certificate of service was included with the May 7, 2020, Motion. <u>Id.</u> On July 1, 2020, parties appeared before Senior Judge Barker for a Trial Readiness conference. <u>Id.</u> Following the Trial Readiness Conference, Defendant filed a Motion to Disqualify Senior Judge Barker on July 10, 2020. <u>Id.</u> Both the May 7, 2020, and July 10, 2020, Motions to Disqualify were denied by Chief Judge Linda Bell. <u>Id.</u>

On August 11, 2020, Defendant filed an Emergency Motion to Disqualify Chief Judge Bell, and simultaneously filed a Motion for Reconsideration regarding Judge Bell's August 3, 2020, Decision and Order. <u>Id.</u> Both the Emergency Motion and the Motion for Reconsideration were denied by Judge Bell. <u>Id.</u>

On March 8, 2021, Defendant filed another Motion to Disqualify Judge Leavitt. <u>Id.</u> On March 15, 2021, Defendant filed another Motion to Disqualify Chief Judge Bell. <u>Id.</u> On April 14, 2021, Defendant filed another Motion to Disqualify Judges Leavitt and Judge Bell. On April 22, 2021, Defendant filed a Motion to Disqualify Judge Tierra D. Jones. <u>Id.</u> On May 6, 2021, Defendant filed a Motion to Disqualify Judge Nancy Allf. <u>Id.</u>

On August 8, 2021, an Order Denying Defendant's Motion to Disqualify Judge Leavitt was filed. <u>Id.</u> On August 18 and 23, 2021, Defendant filed another Motion to Disqualify Judge Leavitt. <u>Id.</u> On August 20 and September 23, 2021, the Motions were denied by Judge Jones. <u>Id.</u> On September 29, 2021, Defendant filed Motions to Disqualify Judge Leavitt and Judge Jones. <u>Id.</u> Judge Jones filed an affidavit in response thereto on October 6, 2021. <u>Id.</u>

Appellant proceeded to trial on March 1, 2022. AA01006. During the course of the trial, Appellant was disallowed from representing himself; Attorney Bateman was appointed as counsel. AA0644 – 0647.

On March 9, 2022, Appellant was found guilty on all counts. AA0693.

Appellant was sentenced on July 7, 2022, and a judgment of conviction was filed on July 12, 2022. AA02053; AA0994. Appellant's Notice of Appeal was filed March 21, 2022. AA0893. This appeal follows.

///

///

///

VI. <u>STATEMENT OF FACTS1</u>

On April 9, 2019, LVMPD officers were contacted by a male, later identified as victim #1, who reported he was being extorted by a male, later identified as the defendant Kim Dennis Blandino.

Victim #1 reported that on August 28, 2018, he was a Pro Tem Judge at the City of Las Vegas Municipal Court, and Mr. Blandino appeared in court for traffic related offenses. Victim #1 presided over the hearing and Mr. Blandino was found guilty at trial for the traffic offenses. Officers reviewed the court's video footage which allegedly showed that during the trial, there were continual disruptions outburst, and disorderly courtroom behavior from Mr: B1andino. Victim #1 admonished Mr. Blandino several times for his behavior but allowed Mr. Blandino to proceed *pro se*. In the months following the trial, Mr. Blandino filed multiple appeals with the City of Las Vegas, but all the appeals were denied.

¹ The statement of facts relies heavily on the Presentence Investigation prepared by the Division of Parole and Probation in this matter. Should this Court desire a copy of said report, Counsel will be happy to file same under seal.

On April 8, 2019, Mr. Blandino allegedly appeared unannounced at the personal/private law office of victim #1, and dropped off a two-page, handwritten letter. In the letter, Mr. Blandino advised he was ready to begin filing complaints against victim #1 for his activities on the bench during the trial on August 28, 2018.

On April 25, 2019, Mr. Blandino again appeared in court, in the court room where victim #1 was on the bench. After Mr. Blandino entered the court room, victim #1 ordered Mr. Blandino out of court based on his previous behavior at victim #1's private law office. Mr. Blandino then appeared again at victim #1's personal/private law office and dropped off a letter to victim #1, in his capacity as a judge *pro tempore*. Mr. Blandino noted in the letter that he filed a customer feedback form on victim #1 and claimed that victim #1 committed judicial misconduct. Mr. Blandino noted victim #1 had one strike and asked victim #1 to repent.

On April 29, 2019, an officer claiming to be with the Federal Bureau of Investigation, later identified as victim #2, made contact with victim #1, and it was discussed that victim #1 should contact Mr. Blandino to ascertain what Mt. Blandino meant by his letter. Victim #1 contacted Mr. Blandino via telephone and placed the call on speakerphone for Victim #2 to listen. During the call, Mr. Blandino stated that at a minimum, Victim #1 should issue an apology in an open forum for kicking him out of the courtroom on April 25, 2019. Mr. Blandino stated he would need time to think about a further settlement but would send an email at a later time with a settlement offer.

On May 2, 2019, Victim #1 received an email from Mr. Blandino with attachments of a settlement agreement and release. In the documents Mr. Blandino requested Victim #1 pay \$25.00 for the cost of the court recording, apologize in writing before May 30, 2019, and complete an Ethics, Fairness and Security in Your Courtroom and Community class at Victim #1's own expense. Mr. Blandino stated that if the parties agreed to settle, he would not file any other actions, claim suits, or proceedings again Victim #1.

On May 9, 2019, Victim #1 contacted Mr. Blandino and Mr. Blandino responded that he wanted his settlement letter answered by May 23, 2019. Mr. Blandino threatened to file a complaint with the Judicial Commission if the settlement was not accepted. Mr. Blandino also advised he would go the FBI with a criminal complaint against Victim #1 for civil rights violations as well. Lastly, Mr. Blandino stated he would write letters to the partners of Victim #1's law firm, advising them of Victim #1's conduct.

On May 15, 2019, Mr. Blandino left Victim #1 an urgent voicemail at his law office, but the call was not returned.

On May 16, 2019, Mr. Blandino sent a letter to the managing partners at Victim #1's law firm and asked the firm to look into the settlement and push Victim #1 to have a sit down with Mr. Blandino and settle the matter.

After completing their investigation, LVMPD officers obtained a Warrant of Arrest for Mr. Blandino. On May 21, 2019, Mr. Blandino was arrested and booked at the Clark County Detention Center.

VII. ARGUMENT

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The appellate courts review questions of law under a de novo standard. <u>SIIS v. United Exposition Servs. Co.</u>, 109 Nev. 28, 30, 846 P.2d 294, 295 (1993). Under de novo review, the appellate court uses the district court's record but reviews the evidence and law without deference to the district court's legal conclusions. <u>Lioce v. Cohen</u>, 124 Nev. 1, 20, 174 P.3d 970, 982 (2008).

a. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED APPLELLANT THE ABILITY TO REPRESENT HIMSELF.

The District Court erred when it denied Appellant the ability to represent himself. The right to represent oneself is firmly embedded in our law as a fundamental aspect of the right to control one's own defense. Miles v. State, 500 P.3d 1263 (Nev. 2021). A criminal defendant may waive one's right to counsel and represent oneself. <u>See generally Faretta</u> v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 95 S. Ct. 2525, 45 L. Ed. 2d 562 (1975). The right to represent oneself, and to refuse appointed counsel of the State's choosing, stems from "that respect for the individual which is the lifeblood of the law." Miles v. State, 500 P.3d 1263 (Nev. 2021); McCoy v. Louisiana, 584 U.S., 138 S. Ct. 1500, 1507, 200 L. Ed. 2d 821 (2018) (internal quotation marks omitted); see <u>McKaskle v. Wiggins</u>, 465 U.S. 168, 178, 104 S. Ct. 944, 79 L. Ed. 2d 122 (1984) (recognizing that the right to represent oneself "exists to affirm the accused's individual dignity and autonomy").

Furthermore, the trial judge has a duty to "maintain, especially in

a jury trial, that restraint which is essential to the dignity of the court and to the assurance of an atmosphere of impartiality." <u>United States v.</u> <u>Allen</u>, 431 F.2d 712, 713 (9th Cir. 1970); <u>see also Holderer v. Aetna Cas.</u> <u>& Sur. Co.</u>, 114 Nev. 845, 850, 963 P.2d 459, 463 (1998) (*finding* judicial misconduct where trial judge trivialized the proceedings with facetious comments); <u>Parodi v. Washoe Med. Ctr., Inc.</u>, 111 Nev. 365, 367, 892 P.2d 588, 589 (1995). The Nevada Code of Judicial Conduct specifically requires a judge to "be patient, dignified, and courteous to litigants," and the canvass should adhere to this obligation. NCJC 2.8(B); *cf.* <u>In re</u> <u>Disciplinary Proceeding Against Eiler</u>, 169 Wn.2d 340, 236 P.3d 873, 878-79 (Wash. 2010) (*upholding* judicial suspension in part based on deriding pro se litigants' intelligence).

In this case, Appellant was allowed to represent himself, albeit with stand-by counsel. However, on December 2, 2021, during a disagreement with Leavitt, J., she revoked Appellant's ability to represent himself. <u>See</u> AA0644 – 0647. The revocation of Appellant's ability to represent himself was in direct violation of <u>Faretta v. California</u>, 422 U.S. 806, 95 S. Ct. 2525, 45 L. Ed. 2d 562 (1975); <u>Miles v. State</u>, 500 P.3d 1263 (Nev. 2021); <u>McCoy v. Louisiana</u>, 584 U.S. , 138 S. Ct. 1500, 1507, 200 L. Ed. 2d

821 (2018); and <u>McKaskle v. Wiggins</u>, 465 U.S. 168, 178, 104 S. Ct. 944,
79 L. Ed. 2d 122 (1984).

As a noted above, because Appellant's right to represent oneself is firmly embedded in our law as a fundamental aspect of the right to control one's own defense, <u>Miles v. State</u>, 500 P.3d 1263 (Nev. 2021), Appellant's right to self-representation was destroyed and he suffered irreparable harm in the defense of his case.

Wherefore, Appellant prays that this Court grant his Appeal.

b. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED APPLELLANT'S JURY INSTRUCTION ON MISTAKE OF FACT.

The District Court erred when it denied Appellant's jury instruction on mistake of fact. This Court has held that the defense has the right to have the jury instructed on its theory of the case [,] ... no matter how weak or incredible that evidence may be. <u>Crawford v. State</u>, 121 Nev. 746, 751, 121 P.3d 582, 586 (2005). And when a defendant requests "specific jury instructions that remind jurors that they may not convict the defendant if proof of a particular element is lacking," the district court must give those instructions. <u>Id.</u> at 753, 121 P.3d at 588. In this case, Appellant's counsel specifically requested a mistake of fact instruction be included in the instructions read to the jury. <u>See</u> AA1933, ln 24 – AA1934, ln 25.

That is the following request was made by Appellant's Counsel during the jury instruction conference:

MR. BATEMAN: Yes, Judge, I would ask that -- there was one, there's a sample one from the State. Judge, it, I believe it <u>does also go to our theory of defense</u> that Mr. Blandino was mistaken as to the fact that he was in a legitimate negotiation. That this was, in his mind, wrongfully so, the fact that this was not a negotiation that he could engage in. And I think that fact goes to the specific intent which would be required to -- that would be required to commit an act of extortion, when in his mind the fact of the matter is that he is engaged in a legitimate legal negotiation.

See Id. (emphasis added)

Clearly Appellant's request contemplated his theory of defense.

However, the District Court denied said request. See Id.

Thus, because the defense has the right to have the jury instructed on its theory of the case [,] ... no matter how weak or incredible that evidence may be. <u>Crawford v. State</u>, 121 Nev. 746, 751, 121 P.3d 582, 586 (2005), the District Court's denial of the requested jury instruction, was in violation of Appellant's rights and the law of this State.

Wherefore, Appellant prays that this Court grant his Appeal.

c. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED APPELLANT'S MOTIONS TO DISQUALIFY LEAVITT, J. FROM HEARING HIS MATTER.

The District Court erred when it denied Appellant's motions to disqualify Leavitt, J. from hearing his matter. The Appellant has repeatedly attempted to disqualify Leavitt, J. from hearing Appellant's matter. <u>See</u> Decision and Order AA0295.

It is axiomatic that a judge has a general duty to sit, unless a judicial canon, statute, or rule requires the judge's disqualification. <u>Canarelli v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court of Nev.</u>, 506 P.3d 334 (Nev. 2022); <u>Millen v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court</u>, 122 Nev. 1245, 1253, 148 P.3d 694, 700 (2006); <u>see also</u> NCJC Rule 2.7 ("A judge shall hear and decide matters assigned to the judge, except when disqualification is required by Rule 2.11 or other law."). <u>Id.</u> Judges are presumed to be unbiased, <u>Millen</u>, 122 Nev. at 1254, 148 P.3d at 701, and a judge's decision not to recuse herself will not be overturned absent a clear abuse of discretion. <u>Rivero v. Rivero</u>, 125 Nev. 410, 439, 216 P.3d 213, 233 (2009) (overruled in part on other grounds by <u>Romano v. Romano</u>, 138 Nev. Adv. Rep. 1, 501 P.3d 980 (2022); PETA v. Bobby Berosini, Ltd., 111 Nev. 431, 437, 894 P.2d 337, 341 (1995) (overruled on other grounds by Towbin Dodge, LLC v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 121. Nev. 251, 260-61, 112 P.3d 1063, 1069-70 (2005)). However, Appellant notes that, NCJC Rule 2.11(A)(1)requires a judge to recuse herself "in any proceeding in which the judge's impartiality might reasonably be questioned, including but not limited to the following circumstances: (1) The judge has a personal bias or prejudice concerning a party or a party's lawyer, or has personal knowledge of facts that are in dispute in the proceeding. The remaining circumstances described in NCJC Rule 2.11(A)(2)-(6) concern bias arising from an extrajudicial source. See NCJC Rule 2.11(A)(2) (when someone closely related to the judge is involved in the proceeding); NCJC Rule 2.11(A)(3) (when the judge or the judge's fiduciary or close family member "has an economic interest in" the case); NCJC Rule 2.11(A)(5) (when the judge made an extrajudicial public statement "that commits or appears to commit the judge to reach a particular result"); NCJC Rule 2.11(A)(6) (when the judge was substantively involved in the matter before becoming the presiding judge on that case).

Furthermore, recusal is required when, objectively speaking, "the probability of actual bias on the part of the judge or decisionmaker is too high to be constitutionally tolerable." <u>Rippo v. Baker</u>, 580 U.S. 285, 137 S. Ct. 905 (2017); <u>Withrow v. Larkin</u>, 421 U. S. 35, 47, 95 S. Ct. 1456, 43 L. Ed. 2d 712 (1975); <u>see Williams v. Pennsylvania</u>, 579 U. S. 1, 8, 136 S. Ct. 1899, 195 L. Ed. 2d 132, 141 (2016) ("The Court asks not whether a judge harbors an actual, subjective bias, but instead whether, as an objective matter, the average judge in his position is likely to be neutral, or whether there is an unconstitutional potential for bias" (internal quotation marks omitted)).

In this case, Appellant has filed numerous motions to disqualify Leavitt, J. <u>See</u> AA0295. Appellant has cited *inter alia* issues of failure to allow Appellant to proceed *pro se*, failure to terminate forced counsel, and outright prejudice. <u>See</u> AA00362; AA0694; AA0783.

All of these reasons give rise to questions of impartiality on the part of the District Court. NCJC Rule 2.11(A)(1) <u>requires</u> a judge to recuse herself in any proceeding in which the judge's impartiality might reasonably be questioned. Yet, time and time again, Appellant's motions to disqualify Leavitt, J. have been denied. As a result, Appellant's due process rights have been violated by Leavitt, J.'s failure to remove herself from this litigation as is required by Nevada law and Judicial Canon and Rule.

Wherefore, Appellant prays that this Court grant his Appeal.

VIII. CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, this Petitioner prays that this Court grant his Appeal.