IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed May 25 2023 10:19 AM Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

KIM BLANDINO,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 84433

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction (Jury Trial) Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

JOSEPH Z. GERSTEN, ESQ. Nevada Bar #013876 The Gersten Law Firm, PLLC 9680 W. Tropicana Ave. #146 Las Vegas, Nevada 89147 (702) 857-8777 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

While a defendant generally has the right to represent himself in a criminal proceeding, that right is not absolute when the defendant demonstrates that he will be disruptive to the court proceedings. In this case, the district court had a plethora of evidence that Appellant was going to improperly obstruct the court proceedings. It was based upon this supported belief that the district court revoked his right of self-representation.

At trial, Appellant proposed a jury instruction regarding a mistake of fact.

The district court properly denied this instruction because Appellant was not mistaken about a fact, instead he was mistaken about the law and a mistake of law is not a defense.

Finally, the district court appropriately presided over this case despite the multiple attempts that Appellant made to disqualify the court. The court not only followed the procedures on potential disqualification, but Appellant has never been able to identify any actual conflict that required disqualification.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

I. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN REQUIRING THAT COUNSEL BE APPOINTED TO REPRESENT APPELLANT

Appellant argues that the district court erred when it revoked his ability to represent himself. However, the right to represent oneself is not absolute and such a ruling can be changed, especially when one acts as Appellant did in this case.

"A criminal defendant has the right to self-representation under the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Nevada Constitution. However, an accused who chooses self-representation must satisfy the court that his waiver of the right to counsel is knowing and voluntary. Such a choice can be competent and intelligent even though the accused lacks the skill and experience of a lawyer, but the record should establish that the accused was 'made aware of the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation." Vanisi v. State, 117 Nev. 330, 337-38, 22 P.3d 1164, 1169-70 (2001) (quoting Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 835, 95 S.Ct. 2525 (1975)).

An accused may insist upon representing himself, "however counterproductive that course may be." Faretta, 422 U.S. at 835, 95 S.Ct. at 2525. The United States Supreme Court has further explained, "'[t]he right to defend is personal,' and a defendant's choice in exercising that right 'must be honored out of that respect for the individual which is the lifeblood of the law." McCoy v. Louisiana, 138 S.Ct. 1500, 1507, 200 L.Ed.2d 821 (2018) (quoting Illinois v. Allen,

397 U.S. 337, 350-51, 90 S.Ct. 1057 (1970) (Brennan, J., concurring)). Indeed, the test is not whether a defendant is *capable* to defend themselves – it is error for the district court to deny an accused the opportunity to represent themselves as long as the waiver is knowing and voluntary. <u>Vanisi</u>, 117 Nev. at 337-38, 22 P.3d at 1169-70.

However, the right to represent oneself is not absolute. A defendant's right to self-representation is contingent on him being "able and willing to abide by rules of procedure and courtroom protocol." <u>Id.</u>, at 340, 22 P.3d at 1171. "The right of self-representation is not a license to abuse the dignity of the courtroom. Neither is it a license not to comply with relevant rules of procedural and substantive law." <u>Id.</u>, *quoting* <u>Faretta</u>, 422 U.S. at 835, 95 S.Ct. 2525.

A court may rely upon a defendant's pretrial activity and conduct to determine that the individual will be disruptive in the courtroom. <u>Id.</u>, *see also* <u>Tanksley v. State</u>, 113 Nev. 997, 946 P.2d 148 (1997). In both <u>Vanisi</u> and <u>Tanksley</u>, the lower courts made records about the disruptive nature of the defendants that were being denied self-representation.

Here, the district court only revoked Appellant's ability to represent himself after Appellant demonstrated his continuous disregard for any decision of the court. This was not a hasty decision made by the district court. The district court repeatedly admonished Appellant that he needed to begin following the rules and that he needed

to not interrupt others as it was disruptive. It was only after Appellant's constant failure to follow simple rules, and his successful bids to delay the proceedings by filing frivolous motions, did the district court disallowed him from representing himself.

For instance, during the court proceedings in which the district court entertained argument on the State's motion to revoke his self-representation, Appellant continued to argue that the court was prohibited from ruling on anything based on his filing of another motion to disqualify. To support his argument, he told the court "What you have is your incompetence, corruption and I think there is some mental illness or something going on in your head." 3 AA 0635.

Appellant filed nineteen separate motions to disqualify the courts that were intended to disrupt the proceedings. 3 AA 644. The district court found that each time one motion was denied, he would file another one. <u>Id.</u> The district court found that his multiple motions to disqualify were meant to "obstruct, impede, and manipulate the court procedures and prevent the Court from proceeding forward against the defendant and setting the matter for trial." Id.

The district court further found that there was no question in its mind that Appellant was trying to manipulate the court proceedings. 3 AA 645. It found that he refused to follow not only the procedural rules of court, but Appellant had evidenced his noncompliance with even basic rules that were set in place for the

pandemic and entry into the courthouse. <u>Id.</u> The district court further held that Appellant filed a false application for a temporary protective order against the district court alleging that the court had committed aggravated stalking against him. 3 AA 646.

Finally, the district court found that Appellant's conduct was so disruptive and manipulative that it had no confidence that the matter could proceed if he was permitted to continue representing himself. <u>Id.</u>

The district court also memorialized its findings in its Order Granting State's Motion to Revoke Defendant's Self-Representation filed on December 27, 2021. The district court explained the lengthy history of Appellant trying to disqualify every court that even remotely was connected to his case. It explained the numerous opportunities that it gave Appellant to correct his behavior or lose his right to self-representation.

The district court's order specifically found that "[D]efendant's self-representation has proved extremely disruptive, deliberately obstructionist and provided the strongest indication that Defendant will continue to intentionally disrupt and delay these proceedings should he be allowed to represent himself. Defendant filed twenty frivolous motions to disqualify in order to tactically delay pretrial proceedings and trail in this case." RA000030. The district court went to explain "[T]he totality of Defendant's conduct evidences his ulterior purpose of

improperly seeking delay and tactical advantage." <u>Id.</u> The district court concluded its order by explaining "[I]t is clear to this Court that revocation of Defendant's right to self-representation is necessary in order to meet that obligation and ensure the fair, efficient and dignified administration of justice. Furthermore, given Defendant's refusal to conform his conduct to the rules of the Court when given the opportunity to do so, this Court finds that no less restrictive means will suffice." RA 000031.

Based upon the several enumerated factors and the record which consistently demonstrated Appellant's unreasonable behavior, the district court did not abuse its discretion when it revoked his ability to represent himself. Not only did the district court not abuse its discretion, but this court would set a dangerous precedence if defendants were to allowed to ignore all rules in hopes of eventually benefiting from a court being later reversed for revoking one's right to self-representation or in order to try and get the court disqualified. The record here is clear that the district court attempted to work with Appellant and to allow him to represent himself, but eventually the district court rightly determined that the matter could not proceed with Appellant having the right to self-representation.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING A MISTAKE OF FACT JURY INSTRUCTION

Appellant argues that the district court erred when it denied a proposed jury instruction on Appellant's mistake of fact. The district court has "broad discretion

to settle jury instructions, and this court reviews the district court's decision for an abuse of that discretion or judicial error." <u>Crawford v. State</u>, 121 Nev. 744, 748, 121 P.3d 582, 585 (2005). "An abuse of discretion occurs if the district court's decision is arbitrary or capricious or if it exceeds the bounds of law or reason." <u>Id.</u> Although the decision to refuse a jury instruction is subject to abuse of discretion review, whether a jury instruction contains a correct statement of law is subject to de novo review. Cortinas v. State, 124 Nev. 1013, 1019, 195 P.3d 315, 319 (2008).

While Appellant correctly states that he has the right to be instructed on his theory of the case (pursuant to <u>Crawford</u>), the district court must still only give jury instructions that are a correct statement of the law as it relates to a case. Jury instructions that confuse or mislead the jury are erroneous. <u>Zelavin v. Tonopah</u> <u>Belmont</u>, 39 Nev. 1, 7-11, 149 P. 188, 189-191 (1915).

Where a specific intent is required to constitute an offense, a person who acts under "ignorance or mistake of fact, which disproves any criminal intent," is not liable for punishment. NRS 194.010(5). However, mistake or ignorance of the law is not a defense to a criminal action. Whiterock v. State, 112 Nev. 775, 782, 918 P.2d 1309, 1314 (1996). Appellant argues that he was entitled to his proposed jury instruction because his theory of the defense was that Appellant thought he was involved with a legitimate negotiation in trying to get the victim to change his prior court rulings. AA 1933-1934. However, his proposed mistake of fact instruction

would not apply to his situation because Appellant knew what he was doing, it was just that he did not realize that his acts were criminal in nature.

Appellant argued that his proposed instruction was relevant to defend against the charge of extortion pursuant to NRS 205.320. NRS 205.320, entitled "Threats," reads as follows:

A person who, with the intent to extort or gain any money or other property or induce another to make, subscribe, execute, alter or destroy any valuable security or instrument or writing affecting or intended to affect any cause of action or defense, or any property, or to influence the action of any public officer, or to do or abet or procure any illegal or wrongful act, whether or not the purpose is accomplished, threatens directly or indirectly:

- 1. To accuse any person of a crime;
- 2. To injure a person or property;
- 3. To publish or connive at publishing any libel;
- 4. To expose or impute to any person any deformity or disgrace; or
- 5. To expose any secret,

is guilty of a category B felony and shall be punished by imprisonment in the state prison for a minimum term of not less than 1 year and a maximum term of not more than 10 years, or by a fine of not more than \$10,000, or by both fine and imprisonment.

Appellant's mistaken belief that he was involved in a lawful negotiation does not negate his mens rea because his belief this was an actual negotiation is not an element of the crime. The statute only requires that the person have the intent to

extort, gain money, or to influence the action of a public officer. Thus, Appellant's mistaken belief that he could contact the victim and force the victim into a negotiation regarding his traffic conviction does not go to a mistake of fact, it instead goes towards his mistake of what the law prohibits. The law prohibits his conduct, and his belief that he was allowed to engage in his acts does not negate him of criminal liability. As such the district court did not err in ruling that his proposed instruction was incorrect as a matter of law and could not go towards his theory of defense.

III. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO RECUSE ITSELF FROM APPELLANT'S CASE

Appellant argues that it was error for the district court to deny his motions to disqualify Judge Leavitt, the randomly assigned judge of his case, from being the presiding judge. As mentioned, Appellant filed multiple motions throughout the case seeking to disqualify Judge Leavitt from presiding over his case.

In Nevada, a judge is presumed to be not biased. Goldman v. Bryan, 104 Nev. 644, 764 P.2d 1296 (1988) (overturned on other grounds, see Halverson v. Hardcastle, 123 Nev. 29, 163 P.3d 428 (2007)). The burden is on the party asserting bias "to establish sufficient factual grounds warranting disqualification." Goldman, 104 Nev. at 644, 764 P.2d at 1296. A motion to disqualify will be insufficient where there are no facts that support a reasonable inference that a judge entertained bias against the defendant. Id. at 650, at 1300. Therefore, a defendant's bare allegation of bias is not sufficient to overcome the presumption that the court is not biased. <u>Id.</u> at 644, at 1296; <u>Sonner v. State</u>, 112 Nev. 1328, 1335, 930 P.2d 707, 712 (1996). "[R]emarks of a judge made in the context of a court proceeding are not considered indicative of improper bias or prejudice unless they show that the judge has closed his or her mind to the presentation of all the evidence." <u>Cameron v. State</u>, 114 Nev. 1281, 1283, 968 P.2d 1170, 1171 (1998).

Appellant cites to Nevada Code of Judicial Conduct (NCJC) Rule 2.11(A)(1) which requires a judge to recuse herself "in any proceeding in which the judge's impartiality might reasonably be questioned, including by not limited to the following circumstances: (1) The judge has a personal bias or prejudice concerning a party or a party's lawyer, or has personal knowledge of facts that are in dispute in the proceeding." Generally, what a judge learns in her official capacity does not result in disqualification. <u>Kirksey v. State</u>, 112 Nev. 980, 1007, 923 P.2d 1102, 1119 (1996).

The Nevada Supreme Court recently held that it would be problematic if NCJC Rule 2.11(A) required disqualification for every situation where a judge is exposed to prejudicial evidence while ruling on evidentiary disputes. <u>Canarelli v. Eighth Judicial District Court</u>, 138 Nev. Adv. Op. 12, 506 P.3d 334, 338 (2022). "To do so would encroach on a judge's duty to preside over his or her assigned cases." <u>Id.</u>

Appellant filed multiple motions to disqualify the district court. He not only filed motions to disqualify the district court that oversaw his criminal case, he filed additional motions to disqualify every court that heard his case from the trial court to the competency court to the chief judge reviewing his disqualification motion. His argument is that the numerous motions he filed essentially cause the district court to be biased against him.

First, there was no indication that the district court had any bias towards Appellant. The district court initially allowed Appellant to represent himself. It was only based upon Appellant's conduct that the district court eventually ruled that he would no longer be able to represent himself at trial because he was already demonstrating a refusal to comply with any rules from Covid protocols to the rules of criminal procedure and general court decorum.

Second, it would be counter-productive to allow a defendant to create his own conflict by trying to force the district court to disqualify itself. To allow such a conflict would encourage defendants to insult any court in hopes of having the court recuse itself. Although that did not happen here, the entire basis for Appellant claiming a conflict was that the district court ruled against his motions to disqualify her.

Appellant still does not identify any actual bias or conflict that the district court had against him. The record shows that the district court was respectful to

Appellant and made appropriate legal rulings against him. These rulings were based upon the law, and there was no evidence that the district court harbored any bias against Appellant.

CONCLUSION

The district court correctly ruled on each of the matters raised by Appellant.

As such, the judgment should be affirmed.